THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTHONY CASTANEDA,)		
#2799593,)	CASE NO.: 74988	Electronically Filed May 29 2018 10:38 a.m.
Appellant,)	E-FILE	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
)	D.C. Case: C-11-272657-1	
v.)	Dept.: V	
)		
STATE OF NEVADA,)		
)		
Respondent.)		
<hr style="width: 40%; margin-left: 0;"/>)		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from a Denial of Post Conviction Relief

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000854
Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson
624 South 9th Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0001
Terry.jackson.esq@gmail.com

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Nevada Bar No. 001565
Clark County District Attorney

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an Appeal from the Denial of Post Conviction Relief in District Court.

SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

1. Defense Counsel was ineffective under *Strickland* because his lack of preparation pretrial caused him to fail to give the correct statutory notice of expert witness required by NRS 174.234;
2. Defense counsel was ineffective pretrial because he did not do the minimum investigation required by *Strickland* to attempt to contact potentially exculpatory witnesses;
3. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to file a meritorious Motion to Suppress;
4. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to submit a necessary theory of the Case Instruction based upon the Ninth Circuit case of *United States v. Flyer*;
5. Defense counsel was ineffective on Direct Appeal by not adequately

researching the law to chose the best Appellate Issues;

6. The accumulation of error in this case requires reversal of the conviction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant, Anthony Castaneda, was convicted of 15 counts of Possession of Visual Presentation Depicting Sexual Conduct of a Child, a category B felony - NRS 200.700, after a six (6) day jury trial. The Nevada Supreme Court later reversed 14 counts on appeal. *Castaneda v. State*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 44. (A.A. 140-157)

Defendant filed a Writ of Habeas Corpus and Supplemental Points and Authorities alleging counsel's ineffectiveness of counsel on multiple grounds. The Petition alleged counsel was ineffective because of lack of pretrial research and failure to adequately investigate pretrial and file necessary motions pretrial.

The most striking failure of counsel was his failure to file the statutory required

Notice of Expert Witness. Because of this failure, the Court precluded this necessary expert from testifying. Defendant submits he was therefore greatly prejudiced under *Strickland*.

Defense counsel committed prejudicial error under *Strickland* when he failed to file a meritorious Motion to Suppress. There was strong evidence available to counsel that the search warrant was defective. *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 91 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986).

The case of *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978) held that a defendant should have the opportunity to challenge the truthfulness of a search warrant's underlying affidavit. Because there existed a substantial question about the truthfulness of the search warrant affidavits in this case (A.A. 1-10, 11-26), Defendant was severely prejudiced by counsel's failure to file a Motion to Suppress requesting a *Franks* hearing.

Counsel was ineffective during trial by not preparing an appropriate theory of the case instruction that dealt with the critical legal issue of what constitutes legal possession of images in unallocated computer space. The recent decision in *United States v. Flyer*, 633 F.3d 911 (9th Cir.2011) was directly relevant to Defendant's case, as it held that before the government may find a person guilty of possessing pornographic images in unallocated space in a computer, the government has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that:

1. That the defendant had actual knowledge of the presence of such illegal files, and;
2. The defendant also had the forensic software required to access such files.

It is respectfully submitted that an instruction based on the holding in *Flyer* would have prevented the Defendant's wrongful conviction for the mere unknowing, inadvertent, or innocent possession of illegal computer images. Because counsel did

not seek such an important and appropriate instruction in this case, he was ineffective under *Strickland*. The failure to give such an instruction clearly prejudiced the jury because in this case knowledge and intent were the primary issues.

Finally, Defendant submits his appellate counsel was an ineffective advocate on appeal. A review of the entire record including the Defendant's appellate briefs will establish that counsel did not do a competent job choosing the most important issues that had merit, especially those issues concerning jury instructions and insufficiency of the evidence under *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979).

The accumulation of errors by counsel mandates the conviction be reversed. *Cooper v. Fitzharris*, 586 F.2d 1325, 1333, (9th Cir.1978) (*En Banc*) cert. den. 440 U.S. 970.

...

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellant Anthony Castaneda claims jurisdiction pursuant to N.R.S. 177.015(3), which gives the court jurisdiction to review the denial of an Order denying post-conviction relief.

Defendant/Appellant filed timely Notice of Appeal on January 24, 2018.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of a Petition from a Writ of Habeas Corpus.

Pursuant to NRAP 17, this case should be assigned to the Court of Appeals.

LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING
DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HIS LACK OF
PREPARATION PRETRIAL CAUSED HIM TO FAIL TO GIVE THE

CORRECT STATUTORY NOTICE FOR AN ESSENTIAL EXPERT
WITNESS;

II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING
DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CONTACT
POTENTIAL EXCULPATORY WITNESSES IN HIS PRETRIAL
INVESTIGATION;

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND
DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO FILE A
MERITORIOUS MOTION TO SUPPRESS;

IV. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING
DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO SUBMIT A
NECESSARY JURY INSTRUCTION BASED UPON THE HOLDING IN

UNITED STATES v. FLYER;

V. WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL ON DIRECT APPEAL;

VI. WHETHER THE ACCUMULATION OF ERRORS IN THIS CASE
REQUIRES REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Preliminary hearing was held April 14, 2011. Information was filed April 20, 2011. (A.A. 27-33) Defendant was arraigned April 21, 2011, and a trial date was set.

Jury trial began on July 8, 2013. On July 12, 2013, Defendant filed Motion to Dismiss, based upon prosecutorial misconduct by prosecution witness Tami Hines. (A.A. 39-82) That Motion was denied. Defendant was convicted in July 16, 2013, after a seven day trial, when the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts. (A.A.

122-126) Defendant was sentenced on October 30, 2013. (A.A. 127-130) An Amended Judgment of Conviction was entered on June 16, 2014. (A.A. 131-135) Defendant was sentenced to 28 to 72 months suspended with probation. Defendant's probation was eventually revoked on June 22, 2015. (A.A. 136-139) On November 25, 2013, Defendant filed Notice of Appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court. The Supreme Court affirmed Defendant's conviction on June 16, 2016. (A.A. 140-157) Defendant had filed a Motion to Withdraw Counsel on December 13, 2015. (A.A. 165-172)

Defendant filed an additional Motion to Withdraw Counsel, Appoint New Counsel and Request an Evidentiary Hearing on January 4, 2017. (A.A. 300-304) Defendant filed a *Pro Per* Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on May 10, 2017. (A.A. 173-233)

The Defendant filed Supplemental Points and Authorities on July 25, 2017.

(A.A. 239-253) The State filed an Opposition to Defendant's Supplemental Points and Authorities in Support of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus for Post-Conviction Relief on September 20, 2017. (A.A. 254-267) Defendant filed a Reply to State's Opposition to Supplemental Points and Authorities on September 25, 2017. (A.A. 268-275) The Court heard brief argument on the Petition of Habeas Corpus on October 16, 2017. (A.A. 305-309) On January 18, 2018, the Court issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. (A.A. 283-296) Notice of Entry of Finding of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on January 25, 2018. (A.A. 299) Defendant filed Notice of Appeal on January 24, 2018. (A.A. 297-98)

FACTUAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Petitioner Anthony Castaneda was initially charged by criminal complaint and a preliminary hearing was held on April 11, 2011. After the preliminary hearing Defendant was bound over on fifteen counts of possession of

visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of a child. NRS 200.700, 200.730. An information was filed April 20, 2011, then Defendant pled not guilty and trial was set.

Defense counsel did not do the minimum investigation required under *Strickland v. Washington* to have an adequate factual understanding of the case. The result was the Defendant did not locate possible exculpatory witnesses who could have testified. Defense counsel did not even do adequate legal research to know how to file a Notice of Expert Witness. The trial court then refused to hear Defendant's expert witness testify because of Defendant's failure to comply with the notice statute NRS 174.234. Defendant filed two notices pursuant to NRS 174.234 but neither endorsed an expert witness. (A.A. 35-38)

Defense counsel also did not develop the facts or law to file a meritorious Motion to Suppress. The facts established that a key witness, Tami Hines, actually admitted she lied about part of the affidavits supporting the search warrant. (A.A. 1-

10), (A.A. 11-26), (A.A. 40-41) During trial, counsel was ineffective by not being prepared with appropriate theory of the case instruction that would have clarified the important issues of knowledge and intent regarding possession of computer data.

Counsel failed to have a clear and comprehensive strategy of defense and that led to the accumulation of error during the case. Counsel on appeal missed the most important issues and was therefore ineffective.

On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court granted partial reversal, *Castaneda v. State*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 44. (A.A. 140-157) Defendant then filed a timely *Pro Per* Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his Sixth Amendment rights. (A.A. 173-233) Supplemental Points and Authorities were later filed on July 25, 2017. (A.A. 239-253) The State filed Opposition to the Defendant's Supplemental Points and Authorities, disputing the defense counsel was ineffective or that the Defendant was prejudiced. (A.A. 254-267)

After Defendant filed a Reply, the District Court heard argument on October 30, 2017, and then denied Defendant's Petition and entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on January 18, 2018. (A.A. 283-296)

ARGUMENT

I. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE UNDER *STRICKLAND* FOR FAILING TO SECURE A NECESSARY EXPERT WITNESS.

It is undisputed counsel did not provide proper statutory notice under NRS 174.234 for his rebuttal computer expert, Leon Mare and the court then disallowed the testimony of Leon Mare. (A.A. 127) It is also undisputed that the State opposed admission of Leon Mare's testimony, arguing vigorously his testimony was inadmissible because it violated the statute. The State would not waive the technical violation by the defense. (A.A. 127), (A.A. 260)

Competent counsel should have foreseen this result. Defense counsel however, who did not comply with the technical requirement of notice required by NRS 174.234, was clearly unprepared and patently ineffective under *Strickland* in arguing to admit this critical rebuttal evidence.

Even though the trial court may have been overly harsh in refusing to allow the necessary defense rebuttal expert to testify, because he was not properly noticed, that failure must be blamed on defense counsel's malfeasance and not just the trial court's overly harsh ruling. NRS 174.234 requires notice that is timely. If counsel had acted effectively, and he was well prepared pretrial, he would have filed the timely notice which was required by statute.

Any competent counsel would also have anticipated that any testimony of Detective Ehler would likely be adverse. The fact some of Ehler's inculpatory testimony had not been previously revealed, and the fact Ehler himself did not testify

directly previously to certain related matters is irrelevant. (*See*, State' Opposition, A.A. 254-267), (*See*, P.H.T. pp. 22 - 75), (A.A. 51-64) A preliminary hearing is merely a probable cause hearing. NRS 171.206. The State was not required to put on more than the minimum evidence necessary to establish probable cause. The State did not have to prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt at the preliminary hearing. *Robertson v. Sheriff*, 85 Nev. 681 (1969) The State was not even required to provide a defendant full discovery prior to a preliminary hearing. *State v. Justice Court*, 112 Nev. 803, 919 P.2 401 (1996)

It is not surprising that the trial judge refused to admit the rebuttal testimony from Leon Mare and instead rejected Defendant's due process argument. (A.A. 127)

The Supreme Court later in affirming the conviction upheld the District Court's ruling. It did not accept the Defendant's due process and Sixth Amendment arguments that the defense counsel should have been allowed to call his expert

witness at trial even though he had failed to properly provide notice. *Castaneda v. State*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 44. (A.A. 156) Defendant submits that the pretrial error of his counsel, which prevented him from calling a necessary witness, was the type of egregious ineffective assistance of counsel that mandates reversal because both prongs of *Strickland* are clearly satisfied. It was certainly deficient performance by counsel to not notice an absolutely essential rebuttal witness. This was outside the objective standards of reasonable attorney performance and the Defendant was also clearly prejudiced. It is hard to imagine a stronger case for meeting both prongs of *Strickland*.

In the District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, the court however found counsel was not ineffective, stating "counsel could not be faulted for a reasonable miscalculation." (A.A. 290)

The argument that counsel could not have anticipated Detective Ehler's

testimony defies logic. Detective Ehler worked for the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department and the police had arrested Anthony Castaneda. As a general rule when the police testify in a criminal case, they always provide evidence against the defendant arrested.

Finally, the District Court stated that this issue was governed by the law of the case (A.A. 290), citing the decision in *Castaneda v. State*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 44 (A.A. 140-157) where the Nevada Supreme Court noted the defendant had been able to make the points he wanted without an expert. *See, Castaneda v. State, supra*. (A.A. 156)

Ineffective assistance of counsel was not however the issue on direct appeal so any statements the court made in its decision concerning the calling of an expert dealt with different issues and are mere dicta. Therefore, it is respectfully submitted the doctrine of ‘the law of the case’ is inapplicable because the same issues were not

being decided by the Supreme Court.

**II. DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT CONTACTING
POTENTIALLY EXCULPATORY WITNESSES DURING HIS
PRETRIAL INVESTIGATION.**

Defendant submits that defense counsel failed his basic duty under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), which was to do at least a minimal pretrial investigation.

In this case a minimal pretrial investigation would have included consulting any potential exculpatory witnesses working for the commercial software company SpyBox. Counsel should have contacted the employees of the commercial software company SpyBox because they could have testified concerning the security measures which were used to protect Defendant's computer from being corrupted.

Counsel's failure to call such witnesses prevented him from developing critical evidence showing a lack of intent to possess illegal pornography.

The American Bar Association (ABA) Standards on the Prosecution and Defense function emphasize the crucial importance of investigation by criminal defense attorneys for their clients.

See, ABA Standards 4.1: Duty to Investigate.

It is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to guilt and degree of guilt or penalty. The investigation should always include effort to secure information in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities. The duty to investigate exists regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to the lawyer of facts constituting guilt or his stated desire to plead guilty. (Emphasis added)

The importance of this ABA standard has been recognized and cited by the Nevada Supreme Court for over 40 years. *See, Jackson v. Warden*, 91 Nev. 430, 537 P.2d 473 (1975). Counsel however did not fulfill the elementary command to promptly investigate and develop all the relevant information that would assist his client in the defense. This failure by counsel requires reversal of the conviction.

In *Strickland v Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), the United States Supreme Court established a two pronged test for reversal based upon ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires a showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Second, counsel must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel errors are so serious as to have deprived defendant a fair trial, a trial where the result is reliable. Unless a

defendant makes both showings, he is not entitled to a reversal of the conviction.

(Emphasis added).

In *Sanborn v. State*, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991), the Nevada Supreme Court in reversing, recognized the importance of the *Strickland* standard, stating:

To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, Sanborn must demonstrate that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that counsel's deficiencies were so severe that they rendered the jury's verdict unreliable. See *Strickland v. Washington*, 46 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430, 683 F.2d 504 (1984) *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1004, 105 S.Ct. 1865, 85 L.Ed.2d 159 (1985). Focusing on counsel's performance as a whole, and with due regard for the strong presumption of effective assistance accorded counsel by this court and *Strickland*, we hold that Sanborn's representation indeed fell below an

objective standard of reasonableness.

Trial counsel did not adequately perform pretrial investigation, failed to pursue evidence supportive of a claim of self-defense, and failed to explore allegations of the victim's propensity towards violence. Thus, he "was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. Id. 403, 404. (Emphasis added)

In this case the defense counsel's failure to properly complete his investigation was analogous to the lack of care counsel gave to the filing of proper procedural notice of expert witness and it was prejudicial error.

Consider the case of *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 527, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.471 (2003): "It is evident from the PCRA record that counsel's limited investigation was not the result of such reasoned judgment, but merely the consequence of lackluster performance." (Emphasis added) *See also, Walker v.*

McQuiggans, 656 F.3d 311 (6th Cir.2011), and the cases of *Elmore v. Ozmint*, 661 F.3d 783 (4th Cir.2011) and *Blystone v. Horn*, 664 F.3d 397 (3rd Cir.2011). In *Elmore v. Ozmint*, *supra*, the court noted:

“Because *Elmore*’s lawyer’s investigation never started, there could be no reasonable strategic decision to stop the investigation or forego use of evidence that the investigation could have uncovered.” *Id.* 864 (Emphasis added)

Since intent was the primary issue in this case, the failure to do a reasonable fact investigation to discover exculpatory evidence was error, notwithstanding the District Court’s statement that trial counsel’s failure to call any witnesses is “a virtually unchallengeable decision.” *Dawson v. State*, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992).

The failure of counsel here to not even do a minimal investigation is clearly

challengeable under *Strickland* and requires reversal.

III. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO FILE A MERITORIOUS MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 474 U.S. 365, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 91 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986), the Supreme Court found the defense counsel's failure to file a meritorious Motion to Suppress was reversible error under *Strickland v. Washington*. Defendant submits counsel should have filed a Motion to Suppress in this case based upon the defective search warrants. (A.A. 1-10, 11-26) It is likely such a motion would have won and the evidence would have therefore been suppressed.

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