#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Jun 29 2018 09:47 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ANTHONY CASTANEDA,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 74988

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From a Denial of Post-Conviction Relief Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar #000854 Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson 624 South 9th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0001 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

"The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686, 104 S.Ct. at 2052. Indeed, the question is whether an attorney's representations amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, "not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105, 131 S.Ct. 770, 788 (2011); see also Strickland, 466

U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065 ("There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way."). Accordingly, the role of a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). In doing so, courts begin with the presumption of effectiveness and the defendant bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-1012, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004) (holding "that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective- assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence."). This analysis does not indicate that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics," Donovan, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711, but rather, the court must determine whether counsel made "sufficient inquiry a into the information...pertinent to his client's case." Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996).

Further, even if counsel's performance was deficient, "it is not enough to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." Harrington, 562 U.S. at 104, 131 S.Ct. at 787 (quotations and citations omitted). Instead, the defendant must demonstrate that but for counsel's incompetence the results of the proceeding would have been different:

In assessing prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>, the question is not whether a court can be certain counsel's performance had no effect on the outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been established if counsel acted differently. Instead, <u>Strickland</u> asks whether it is reasonably likely the results would have been different. This does not require a showing that counsel's actions more likely than not altered the outcome, but the difference between <u>Strickland's</u> prejudice standard and a more-probable-than-not standard is slight and matters only in the rarest case. The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.

<u>Id</u>. at 111-112, 131 S.Ct. at 791-792 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

For claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the prejudice prong is slightly different. There is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was reasonable and fell within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." See United States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065). A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must still satisfy the two-prong test set forth by Strickland. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996). In order to satisfy Strickland's second prong, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id.

Appellate counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous issue on appeal. Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-754, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3312-3314 (1983). The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves "winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." Id. at 751-52, 103 S.Ct. at 3313. In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments...in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions." Id. at 753, 103 S.Ct. at 3313. For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." Id. at 754, 103 S.Ct. at 3314.

There is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was reasonable and fell within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." See United States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990); citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065. A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must satisfy the two-prong test set forth by Strickland. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996). In order to satisfy Strickland's second prong, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id.

The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves "winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions." <u>Id.</u> at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." <u>Id.</u> at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

All told, "[s]urmounting <u>Strickland</u>'s high bar is never an easy task." <u>Padilla v. Kentucky</u>, 559 U.S. 356, 371,130 S.Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010). Here, this Court finds Defendant's arguments fall far short of satisfying <u>Strickland</u>.

#### A. Counsel was not ineffective regarding witnesses

Defendant alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to "notice a necessary expert witness," and failing to contact "any of the employees who worked for Defendant's software security services company SpyBox." AOB 14, 18. However, Defendant's allegation is misguided as deciding which witnesses to call is a virtually unchallengeable decision. <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). Additionally, as to Defendant's expert witness claim, the United States Supreme Court stated that a defense expert witness is not required solely because the State used an expert witness. <u>Harrington</u>, 562 U.S. at 111, 131 S.Ct. at 791

("<u>Strickland</u> does not enact Newton's third law for the presentation of evidence, requiring for every prosecution expert an equal and opposite expert from the defense.").

In the instant matter, in denying Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus the district court found that defense counsel "argued at trial that the late notice of a rebuttal expert was warranted because Det. Ehlers's testimony strayed from what was included in his report." AA 290. Defendant's trial counsel cannot be ineffective for Det. Ehlers's unanticipated testimony. See Harrington, 562 U.S. at 110, 131 S.Ct. at 791 ("an attorney may not be faulted for a reasonable miscalculation or lack of foresight or for failing to prepare for what appear to be remote possibilities"). Moreover, Defendant's assertion is misguided as Defendant's trial counsel had no reason to call an expert.

On July 11, 2016, at the very outset of Det. Ehler's cross-examination, defense counsel attacked Det. Ehlers's testimony on direct examination. AA 290. On that same date, defense counsel requested leave of the court to call a computer expert ("Mare") to rebut Det. Ehler's testimony. <u>Id</u>. Defense counsel preserved the proffered expert testimony of Leon Mare by filing an Offer of Proof Regarding Defendant's Motion to Call a Computer Expert to Rebut Detective Ehlers' Surprise Trial Testimony on October 7, 2013. <u>Id</u>. However, even if Mare testified, Defendant is still unable to establish any prejudice because trial counsel successfully argued

each of the arguments Mare would have made during Det. Ehlers's cross examination and re-cross. <u>Id</u>. Lastly, the question of prejudice is governed by the law of the case because this Court concluded on direct appeal that Defendant was able to make the points he wanted to make without calling an expert. AA 290. Therefore, Defendant's claim is without merit.

#### B. Counsel was not ineffective regarding Motion to Suppress

Defendant alleges his counsel was ineffective by not filing a Motion to Suppress "based upon the defective search warrants." AOB 25. Defendant specifically alleges that his counsel should have asked for a Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 2676 (1978) hearing, and that the search warrant was defective due to "many false statements made by Tami Hines in support of the affidavit." AOB 26. However, the district court specifically found that Defendant's claim is without merit as the search warrant was still supported by probable cause irrespective of Hines's alleged lie. AA 291-92. In response to defense counsel's allegation of Hines committing perjury, this Court stated:

My recollection was she said that her answer to the one question at preliminary hearing, which was: Did you immediately recognize the thumb drive -- I'm paraphrasing, of course -- as Mr. Castaneda's? She said, No. And that was -- then you said, Well, were you lying then? She said, Yes. So that's the only -- to my way of thinking as far as having heard everything, it appears to me the only thing that she admitted that she lied about was that one statement.

Id. Based on the Court's response, Defendant was not entitled to a <u>Franks</u> hearing since he failed to demonstrate that the investigators engaged in any misconduct. Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 584, 119 P.3d 107, 127 (2005). Moreover, a search warrant cannot be overturned solely because of a witness's alleged lie, and will only be re-examined for probable cause if a defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing that the affidavit contains intentionally or recklessly false statements. <u>Franks</u>, 438 U.S. at 155, 98 S.Ct. at 2676. Defendant fails to make such a showing. Therefore, this Court should defer to the district court and find that Defendant's claim is without merit.

## C. Counsel was not ineffective regarding jury instruction on criminal intent

Defendant alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to proffer a jury instruction based on <u>United States v. Flyer</u>, 633 F.3d 911, 913 (9th Cir. 2011). AOB 29. However, a jury instruction based on <u>Flyer</u> would be inappropriate as Defendant's reliance on Flyer is misplaced.

In <u>Flyer</u>, the defendant was convicted of possession of child pornography. <u>Id</u>. The Court in Flyer reasoned:

Where a defendant lacks knowledge about the cache files, and concomitantly lacks access to and control over those files, it is not proper to charge him with possession and control of the child pornography images located in those files, without some other indication of dominion and control over the images.

(emphasis added). 633 F.3d at 919 (quoting United States v. Kuchinski, 469 F.3d 853, 862 (9th Cir. 2006). In Flyer, the Court stated that there was no evidence that the defendant "had accessed, enlarged, or manipulated any of the charged images," or that the defendant could "recover or view any of the charged images in unallocated space or that he even knew of their presence." 633 F.3d at 919-920. In the instant matter, the evidence adduced at trial supports a finding that Defendant did not lack access to and control over the files at issue. AA 293. In addition to the charged images found on the thumb drive, each charged image was also found on Defendant's shuttle desktop under Defendant's user account. Id. The images that were found in the "unallocated space" were merely duplicates of the images found on Defendant's shuttle desktop. Id. Hines testified that she has seen Defendant using the computer with the charged images at "[e]very waking hour of the day." Id. Det. Ehlers testified that if an image was in unallocated space, "it would show that a user actually had contact or interaction with it as opposed to it just being placed there or downloaded at one time, never viewed or touched." Id. These testimonies, coupled with Defendant's background in computers, indicate that Defendant did in fact have access to and control over the files in question. Id. Therefore, this Court should defer to the district court's finding that a jury instruction based upon Flyer would have been inappropriate in the instant case.

///

#### D. Defendant's appellate counsel was effective

Defendant alleges that appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising an inadequate instruction and a sufficiency of the evidence claims on appeal. AOB 33. However, this claim fails. As discussed <u>supra</u>, a jury instruction based upon <u>Flyer</u> is inappropriate. Accordingly, there was no basis for appellate counsel to raise this issue on appeal.

As to Defendant's sufficiency of the evidence claim, Defendant already raised this argument on his first appeal to this Court, and this Court rejected it. AA 293. Accordingly, this issue is barred under the law of the case. See State v. Loveless, 62 Nev. 312, 317, 150 P.2d 1015, 1017 (1944) (quoting Wright v. Carson Water Co, 22 Nev. 304, 308, 39 P. 872, 873-874 (1895)) ("The decision (on the first appeal) is the law of the case, not only binding on the parties and their privies, but on the court below and on this court itself. A ruling of an appellate court upon a point distinctly made upon a previous appeal is, in all subsequent proceedings in the same case upon substantially the same facts, a final adjudication, from the consequences of which the court cannot depart."). As explained in Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975), "[t]he doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." See also Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532(2001) (citing McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275

(1999)) ("Under the law of the case doctrine, issues previously determined by this court on appeal may not be reargued as a basis for habeas relief.").

In rejecting Defendant's insufficiency of the evidence claim, this Court held the following:

Here, although Castaneda elicited testimony that a virus could have accessed the files, other testimony established that the downloads were more likely the product of conscious human endeavor. Similarly, while Castaneda's housemates at one time had access to Castaneda's desktop, other evidence indicated that they did not have access to Castaneda's password-protected user account on the desktop or his laptop. The jury also was entitled to consider that fact that the same images appeared on more than one device and that, when he saw that a detective had opened one of the illegal images, Castaneda commented that "Those are kids, I'm sorry." Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's conviction of Castaneda for knowingly and willfully possessing the charged images in violation of NRS 200.730.

AA 293. To the extent Defendant tried to vary his insufficiency of the evidence argument in his petition, the district court properly rejected Defendant's attempt to re-litigate an issue that has already been ruled on by this Court as it constitutes an abuse of the writ pursuant to NRS 34.810(2). Regardless, such variation cannot defeat the law of the case. See Hogan v. Warden, Ely State Prison, 109 Nev. 952, 860 P.2d 710 (1993); Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 879, 34 P.3d at 532. Accordingly, there was no basis for appellate counsel to raise this issue on appeal. Therefore, this claim is without merit.

## II. DEFENDANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE CUMULATIVE ERROR

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